In the

Supreme Court

of the

State of California 8.25(b)

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 1 6 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ANNEMARIE DONKIN et al.,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

CRC

v.

RODNEY E. DONKIN, JR., et al., as Trustees, etc.,

Defendants and Appellants.

CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL · SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT · NO. B228704 SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES · HON. REVA GOETZ · NO. BP109463

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MARK H. BOYKIN, ESQ. (107295) ATTORNEY AT LAW 22144 Clarendon Street, Suite 214 Woodland Hills, California 91367 (818) 883-0871 Telephone (818) 883-4027 Facsimile

Attorney for Petitioners and Respondents, Annemarie Donkin and Lisa Kim

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

To what extent, if at all, can trustees assert a no-contest clause in a trust in response to an action for violation of various fiduciary obligations?

INTRODUCTION

Respondents ANNEMARIE DONKIN and LISA KIM¹ seek the affirmance of the ruling of the Superior Court of California for the County of Los Angeles, the Honorable REVA R. GOETZ, Judge, determining that issue in their favor and rejection of the Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal, Division One affirming in part and reversing in part the ruling of the Superior Court and holding that the former Probate Code §§21300 et seq would apply to virtually any trust which became irrevocable prior to the repeal of the former code sections.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Statement of Facts

MARY E. DONKIN and RODNEY E. DONKIN created a revocable Trust on August 15, 1988 ("the Trust"), naming their four (4)

¹ The parties are referred to herein by their designation before the Court of Appeal.

children as equal beneficiaries thereof after both Trustors were deceased. One of the children, CRAIG DONKIN, predeceased the Trustors without issue, leaving as the beneficiaries in equal shares three (3) of the parties to the appeal: RODNEY E. DONKIN, JR., ANNEMARIE DONKIN AND LISA KIM. The other party to the Appeal, VICKI R. DONKIN, is the wife of RODNEY E. DONKIN, JR. and a Co-Trustee of the Trust with her husband.

RODNEY E. DONKIN ("Decedent") died on August 26, 2002, and Trustor MARY E. DONKIN ("Survivor") died on February 5, 2005. The Trust(s) established for the "Decedent," the first Trustor to die, became irrevocable upon his death and not subject to amendment. AA 63 The Trust, as it read at the death of the Decedent, required that the assets of the Trust Estate which were allocated to the Trust(s) established for the Decedent be distributed outright at the death of the survivor. AA 103 The Survivor amended the Trust, as it applies to the Survivor's portions only, after the death of the Decedent,, on December 17, 2004, less than two (2) months before she died, to make distributions to the beneficiaries at the discretion of the Trustees. AA 118 That Amendment, however, does not purport to, no can it, control the disposition of the Decedent's Trust(s).

The original Trust instrument, dated August 15, 1988, and the Second Amendment dated December 17, 2004, each contain what are

commonly referred to as "no-contest" clauses. The former, contained in the original Trust instrument on page 8 (Respondent's Appendix ("RA") 8) states:

Litigation

The Settlors desire that this Trust, the Trust Estate and the Trust administrators and beneficiaries shall not be involved in time consuming and costly litigation concerning the function of this Trust and disbursement of the assets. Furthermore, the Settlors have taken great care to designate, through the provisions of this Trust, how they want the Trust Estate distributed. Therefore, if a beneficiary, or a representative of a beneficiary, or one claiming a beneficial interest in the Trust Estate, should legally challenge this Trust, its provisions, or asset distributions, then all asset distributions to said challenging beneficiary shall be retained in Trust and distributed to the remaining beneficiaries herein named, as if said challenging beneficiary and his or her issue had predeceased the distribution of the Trust Estate.

The latter, contained in the Second Amendment on page 2 (RA 58), states:

No-Contest - Contestant Disinherited

If any beneficiary in any manner, directly or indirectly, contests or attacks this instrument or any of its provisions, any share or interest in the trust given that contesting beneficiary under this instrument is revoked and shall be disposed of in the same manner provided herein as if that contesting beneficiary had predeceased the settlor.

In their Petitions before the trial court, respondents alleged numerous acts amounting to breaches of fiduciary duties by the Trustees, including failures to account properly, engaging in self-dealing and dealing with related parties, inappropriate compensation, failure to allocate assets between the various Trusts after the deaths of the Trustors and failure to distribute the Decedent's portion thereof. AA 7, 41, 234. It was also alleged that the trustees have acted in conscious disregard of the rights of respondents, paying themselves approximately \$200,000 in compensation (Respondent's Appendix ("RA") 367-373), while distributing only \$25,000 to each beneficiary since the death of the survivor, and have refused to provide proper accountings, or to account at all after the January, 2009, accounting unless ordered to do so. More importantly, appellants have refused to distribute the Decedent's Trust(s) to date, asserting that the amendment of December, 2004, controls the distribution of the entire Trust Estate, which they asserted before the Court of Appeal. Appellants' Brief, p.36.

At the first death, the Trust instrument required that the Trust Estate be divided into as many as three (3) separate trusts, the Survivor's Trust "A," consisting of the Survivor's interest in the community property of the Trustors' marriage and the Survivor's separate property. The Decedent's interest in the community property and his separate property were to be allocated to the "Marital Share" and a portion thereof equal to the maximum Federal Estate Tax Exemption was to be allocated to the Decedent's Trust "B." The balance of the Marital Share over and above the Exemption amount was to be allocated to Decedent's Trust "C." AA 89 et seq. It was the Trustors' intent that no estate tax

be due at the death of the Decedent, as Trust "B" was to hold the largest amount which could pass without tax and Trust "C" was to hold the balance of the marital share, which would be shielded by the unlimited marital deduction (presumably, requiring an election by the Survivor). AA 892. The trustees' interpretation of the effect of the 2004 amendment would destroy the intention of the Trustors that no tax be due at the first death, as Federal law specifies the rights of the surviving spouse over a trust which qualifies for the Exemption, the right to amend the disposition thereof not being among them. In particular, the Survivor did not indicate in that Amendment that she was attempting to alter the disposition of the Decedent's Trust(s), nor did she indicate an intention that the beneficiaries be forced to elect between outright distribution of the Decedent's portion and deferred benefits under the Amendment. Further, neither the Survivor nor the trustees have paid any Estate Tax that would have been due at the Decedent's death had they in fact adopted the trustees' interpretation of the effect of the last amendment.

The trustees see only one purpose for which the Trust exists: to pay themselves an annuity for managing it. They have paid, and continue, to pay, themselves commissions based upon the value of assets under management, including the assets of the Decedent's Trust (s)

² Appellants have indicated that Trust "C" was not establish, due the size of the Marital Share.

which should have been distributed shortly after the death of the survivor, while making only a single token distribution in over seven (7) years. They have also asserted that respondents' actions in bringing the subject Application has resulted in the forfeiture of their beneficial interests (AA 126) and the trustees have refused to voluntarily account to respondents thereafter. They have also engaged in numerous acts of self-dealing, dealing with related parties and other acts of malfeasance, as alleged in the Petition before the trial court (AA 234).

Respondents have at no point have sought to challenge the provisions of the Trust or alter its dispositive scheme; rather, they seek to enforce the distribution plan intended by the Decedent and to seek the removal of the trustees for their repeated breaches of duty and disregard of respondents' interests. Those claims do not amount to a challenge of the Trust as defined in the no-contest clauses as a matter of law and the decision of the Court of Appeal must be reversed.

2. <u>Procedural History</u>

On March 5, 2008, caused to be filed in the Superior Court for Los Angeles County an Application under former Probate Code §21320,³ seeking a determination that the relief sought in a proposed Petition which was lodged therewith pertaining to their rights under the

³ Unless otherwise specified, all statutory references herein are to the Probate Code.

Trust, and alleging various violations of fiduciary duties imposed by law on the part of appellants, did not violate the "no-contest" clauses contained in the various documents which comprised the Trust. Appellants' Appendix, ("AA") 1. In May, 2008, respondents agreed to take the initial Petition "off-calendar" after the initial hearing thereon in an effort to resolve the issues raised therein informally.

When an informal resolution was not achieved, respondents then brought a second §21320 Application (AA 35) on June 29, 2009, which augmented the issues raised in the first Application with those relating to the actions of the Trustees subsequent to the first filing.

On February 23, 2010, after the repeal of former sections 21300 et seq., the trustees filed a "Response" to the second Application, in essence objecting to the legal basis thereof and asserting that it was barred by the repeal of §21320 during the intervening period and that the Application must fail on its face for that and other reasons. AA 51 On March 25, 2010, the trustees filed a Petition seeking a determination, *inter alia*, that respondents had violated the "no-contest" clauses by filing the Applications. AA 126 On August 16, 2010, the trial court determined that the Application did not constitute a contest and ordered

the Petition lodged therewith filed; a formal Order thereon was entered on September 17, 2010. AA 253⁴

This Appeal followed. AA 260. On March 23, 2012, the Court of Appeal affirmed and reversed, in part, holding that the "old" law applied pursuant to Probate Code §3(h) and ruling that some of respondents' claims violated the "no-contest" clauses of the Trust. Respondents did not seek a rehearing in the Court of Appeal. Respondents petitioned for Review by this Court on May 2, 2012. Review was granted on June 13, 2012.

3. The Ruling of the Trial Court

After reviewing the allegations in the proposed Petition (AA 234), the trial court ruled that the claims sought to be made by respondents did not constitute a contest, as all relate to actions of the trustees after the death of the surviving Trustor and seek an interpretation of the 2004 Amendment; in other words, they do not "legally challenge [the] Trust, its provisions, or asset distributions" nor "directly or indirectly, [contest] or [attack] [the Trust] instrument or any of its provisions." There is no possible construction of their claims which could be considered as such and that ruling was correct as a matter of law.

⁴ The trial court also ordered the matter submitted to arbitration pursuant to the arbitration clause in the Trust. The enforcability of such clauses is before this Court after its grant of review in *Diaz v*. *Bukey*, review granted August 11, 2011, S194150.

Respondents alleged that appellants have submitted inadequate, misleading and/or improper accounts (¶5, AA235), have engaged in self-dealing (¶5E, AA 236), have failed to allocate assets between the various trusts (¶5F, AA 237), have actively concealed transactions between themselves and the trust or trustor(s) (¶5G, AA 237), have paid themselves inappropriate compensation (¶5H, AA 237) have breached their duty to make trust property productive (¶5I, AA 238), have failed to disclose advancements made to them which are not to be forgiven under the terms of the Trust (§5K, AA 238) and have refused to distribute the Decedent's Trust(s) according to its terms (¶¶5J and 6, AA 238), all of which acts, individually and taken together, constitute breaches of their fiduciary obligations. Both the decisional and statutory law of this State establish affirmatively that any construction of an instrument which would deprive the courts of jurisdiction to hear such claims is void, which principals the trial court recognized and implemented in its ruling.

4. The Decision of the Court of Appeal

The Court of Appeal affirmed in part and reversed in part. Commencing on page 10 of its Decision, that Court went through a rather lengthy review of the law regarding no-contest clauses and, commencing on page 13, a similar review of the law regarding "safe-harbor" applications, including the 2010 repeal of the section under

which the Application was brought (former§21320) and the statutory scheme concerning such clauses enacted concurrently therewith (§§21310-21315). It then held that the "old law" of former §§21300-21308 would apply to the Application and Petition (pp.16-18) Without explanation, it was also held that several of respondents challenges to the actions of appellants, including challenges to the application of the Second Amendment to the Decedent's Trust, the Trustees' failure to make distributions, and the survivor's failure to create the subtrusts required by the Trust⁵, would violate the no-contest clauses and ordered the matter remanded for further proceedings. (pp.18-19).

5. The Petition for Review

Respondents petitioned this Court for review in this matter on May 2, 2012. The asserted grounds for review were the conflict between the decisions of the districts of the Court of Appeal with regard to public-policy considerations in the enforcement of no-contest clauses and the fact that none of the claims asserted by respondents against appellants violated the terms of those clauses in the Trust as a matter of law. This Court granted review on June 13, 2012

⁵ The Petition assigned that failure to appellants, not the Survivor. AA237

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The ruling of the trial court is reviewed on appeal de novo.

Bradley v. Gilbert, (2nd Dist, 2009) 172 Cal. App. 4th 1058, 1068.

RELEVANT CASE LAW REGARDING NO-CONTEST CLAUSES

Burch v. George

The leading California case on no-contest clauses is this Court's decision in *Burch vs. George*, (1994) 7 Cal 4th 246. The trustor in that case had placed various items of community property of his marriage in a trust by means of both inter-vivos and testamentary transfers and affirmatively declared in the trust document that all assets transferred thereto were his separate property. The clause at issue in that case read:

In the event that any beneficiary under this Trust . . . seeks to obtain in any proceeding in any court an adjudication that this Trust or any of its provisions . . . is void, or seeks otherwise to void, nullify or set aside this Trust or any of its provisions, then the right of that person to take any interest given to him or her by this Trust shall be determined as it would have been determined had such person predeceased the execution of this trust instrument without issue.

7 Cal. 4th at 256.⁶

⁶ The wills of the Trustors contained disinheritance clauses which applied only to "challenges" to the terms of the Wills or Trust. AA 211, 216.

The opinion of the Court, authored by Justice Baxter, recognized the long-standing validity of such clauses in California and the right of a testator/trustor to put a beneficiary to a forced election between asserting rights to the property of the decedent provided by law and the benefits provided in a testamentary document. The Court held that the above language, when read in the context of the declaration of the trustor that the property of the trust was his separate property, evinced the trustor's intention to put his wife to an election between the rights provided for her under the trust and her community-property rights under California law, including her concomitant rights to the trustor's pension under Federal law, which forced election was valid and would be enforced via the no-contest clause if she chose to pursue proposed actions in State and Federal court. Id. at 273-274. Burch does not, however, address the main issue is this case: to what extent can a fiduciary assert a no-contest clause as a bar to an action on his misconduct.

The dissent of Justice Kennard, joined in part by Justice Mosk, asserted that the law refuses to enforce no-contest clauses when doing so would be violative of public policy (as discussed below) and that to allow such a clause to force the spouse to an election would effectively give the trustor the power to dispose of property which did not belong to him, a result which should not be countenanced. *Id.* at 284-285.

Estate of Parrette

In Estate of Parrette, (1985) 165 Cal. App. 3d 157, the Sixth District Court of Appeal held that a clause in a trust, or an asserted interpretation thereof, which would render a trustee immune from judicial oversight was void. The clause in question merely indicated that the court administering the trustor's probate estate could not assume on-going jurisdiction over the trust; the trustee asserted that that language divested the probate court of Monterey County, which court also presided over the administration of the estate, of jurisdiction to decide the propriety of his accountings and compensation. The Court of Appeal refused to accept this interpretation, stating,

Such a construction of the provision in question is not only, as we shall see, contrary to its plain terms, but against public policy. A term in an agreement ousting the court of jurisdiction is void. (citation omitted)

165 Cal. App. 3d at 162.

Estate of Ferber and Subsequent Law

The Fourth District dealt with the public-policy issue very differently in *Estate of Ferber*, (1998) 66 Cal. App. 4th 77. There, a beneficiary sought a ruling under former §21320 with regard to seeking to remove an executor for alleged dereliction of duty and other matters, to object to his accounting and to interpret a term ("co-owners") used in the Will, which was opposed by the executor on the ground that the proposed action would violate the no-contest clause in the Will, at least

if the action were unsuccessful. The clause in question disinherited any beneficiary who, *inter alia*,

(d) objects in any manner to any action taken or proposed to be taken by my Executor, whether my Executor is acting under court order, advice of proposed action or otherwise, (e) objects to any construction or interpretation of my Will, or any provision of it, that is adopted or proposed by my Executor, (f) unsuccessfully requests the removal of any person acting as an executor...

66 Cal. App. 4th 248.

The trial court ruled that the executor's attempt to interpose the expansive clause as a bar to the claims against him violated public policy and ruled in favor of the applicant; however, the Court of Appeal reversed, despite paying homage to the principles espoused in cases like *Parrette*. Apparently, review by this Court was not sought.

While acknowledging that a ruling adopting the executor's interpretation would render such clauses "virtually impenetrable to public policy attacks, something we could not countenance" and that "[b]eneficiaries must be free to raise public policy issues so the court may address them" (66 Cal App. 4th at 252-253), the Court of Appeal balanced the competing interests of insuring fiduciary integrity and giving effect to the intentions of the trustor and held that the clause would not violate public policy if applied only to *frivolous* attempts to remove the executor and to object to his accountings. *Id.* at 255.

The potential of disinheritance for frivolous actions seriously chills the advancement of the salutary public policy of maintaining oversight on fiduciaries. It is inconceivable that a trustor would countenance shielding a feckless and/or mendacious trustee from being forced to answer for his actions upon a proper showing, even where the trustor at the time of the creation of the trust reposed ultimate confidence in the selected trustee. The law provides ample remedies for frivolous actions by a litigant; the mechanical application of the *Ferber* rule adds nothing to the public policy of discouraging such tactics and gives a recalcitrant fiduciary, who controls the access to relevant information and is always in a position to use a beneficiary's money to fight him, a powerful weapon to avoid judicial scrutiny of wrongful acts.

As opposed to the axiomatic statement of judicial policy embodied in *Parrette*, which almost does not require citation, *Ferber*'s chilling of legitimate inquiry into fiduciary conduct has generated substantial response from the legislature and the courts:

A. <u>Statutory Limitation</u>

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