In the

Supreme Court

State of California

SUPREME COURT

SEP 2 4 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ANNEMARIE DONKIN et al.,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

RODNEY E. DONKIN, JR., et al., as Trustees, etc.,

Defendants and Appellants.

CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL · SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT · NO. B228704 SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES · HON. REVA GOETZ · NO. BP109463

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEPHEN L. SNOW, ESQ. (116250) SNOW LAW CORPORATION 28212 Kelly Johnson Parkway, Suite 195 Valencia, California 91355 (661) 259-9443 Telephone (661) 259-9393 Facsimile

Attorney for Defendants and Appellants, Rodney E. Donkin, Jr. and Vicki R. Donkin

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

The Court of Appeal correctly concluded that the beneficiaries' claims in the proposed petition that the

Trustees' are required to make distributions and that Mary's Second Amendment was invalid with respect to Decedent's Trust B would constitute contests under the circumstances of this case and the express language in the no contest clauses. The rationale of the Court of Appeal was that those challenges attack the distributive scheme established by the Settlors and therefore advance positions and/or demand actions by the Trustees that are in direct conflict with the provisions and requirements of the Trust and the Second Amendment. (See, e.g., Cook v. Cook, 177 Cal.App.4th 1436, 1440, 99 Cal.Rptr.3d 913 (2009)(proposed pleading that sought to have the trustees instructed to distribute the assets in a way that is in conflict with the plain language of the trust would violate the no contest clause).) First, the beneficiaries demand immediate distribution of the Decedent's Trust B. "The Decedent's Trust(s) have not been distributed, although the Trust Agreement requires that they be distributed upon the death of the surviving Trustor on February 5, 2005, and this Court should order them distributed forthwith." (AA, at p. 46.) This position is contrary to the Settlors' comprehensive plan of distribution. Second, the beneficiaries legally challenge and attack the validity of the Second Amendment as it applies to the Decedent's Trusts. "The provisions of the Trust, as they relate to the Decedent's Trusts, became irrevocable upon the death of RODNEY E. DONKIN and were unaffected by the amendment of December 17, 2004." (AA, at p. 45.) This

position is contrary to Mary's intention that the Second Amendment apply to all of the Trust Estate, including the assets in the Decedent's Trusts.

The beneficiaries want the court to establish a standard that would give beneficiaries free reign to sue trustees for alleged fiduciary abuses even if the claims are frivolous. "The potential of disinheritance for frivolous actions seriously chills the advancement of the salutary public policy of maintaining oversight on fiduciaries." (OB, at 15.) Thus, the door would be open for beneficiaries to sue trustees any time they did not agree with the actions or positions of the trustees (regardless of the terms of the governing document) by simply characterizing those actions or positions as fiduciary abuse. Fortunately, the courts have seen through this argument in the past and enforced in terrorem clauses where the objections, challenges, and demands are a disguised attempt to controvert or alter the decedent's testamentary scheme. (See, e.g., Hearst, 145 Cal.App.4th at 1212 ("Plaintiffs cannot avoid the no contest clause simply by denominating their proposed challenge . . . as a cause of action against the Trustees for breach of fiduciary duty").) Unfortunately, there is no simple formula that can be applied to every situation. The meandering history of no contest law attests to this fact. Each no contest case is different and no one case has controlling precedential authority for another case. "Determination of whether a prohibited contest has occurred must be made on a case-by-

case basis. (citation omitted.)" (Estate of Lindstrom, 191 Cal.App.3d 375, 381, 236 Cal.Rptr. 376 (1987).) And "`[w]hether there has been a "contest" within the meaning of a particular no-contest clause depends upon the circumstances of the particular case and the language used." (Burch, 7 Cal.4th at 254-55.) "Each case depends upon its own peculiar facts and thus case precedents have little value when interpreting a trust." (See McIndoe v. Olivos, 132 Cal.App.4th 483, 487, 33 Cal.Rptr.3d 689 (2005).) It is no surprise that the beneficiaries' position ignores the fact that, while fiduciary abuse does occur and needs to be remedied, there is also beneficiary abuse that does occur and needs to be remedied. This case is a classic example. When the Trustees took over the administration of the Trust they inherited an expensive lawsuit to recover two trust properties that had been fraudulently stolen. They successfully fought that lawsuit, but emerged with the Trust owing substantial legal fees. It is undisputed that the Trust's financial condition was explained to respondents prior to the beneficiaries commencing their current litigation against the Trustees. (See Appellants Brief, at pp. 5-6; AA, at pp. 131 1.22 to p. 132 1.16, 218 to 219, 226 ll.1-2, 6-10; Respondents Appendix, at pp. 60-64, 101-107, 364 (fiduciary letters).) Since the inception of the Trustees' administration of the Trust, the Trust has had unsatisfied debt and obligations, such as legal fees from the civil litigation and this probate litigation. And, since the filing of the safe harbor application,

there have been disinheritance issues resulting in uncertainty about the persons entitled to distributions. Yet the beneficiaries have been unrelenting in pressing their demands that clearly conflict with the Settlors' stated intentions. This is exactly the kind of behavior that the Settlors legitimately sought to prevent by including the no contest clauses in the Trust.

This is Not a Public Policy Case.

A Probate Code §21320 application can be used to determine whether a provision in a testamentary instrument violates public policy. (Tunstall v. Wells, 144 Cal.App.4th 554, 561, 50 Cal.Rptr.3d 468 (2006) (hereafter "Tunstall").) However, in their effort to turn this case into a bellwether no contest case, the beneficiaries have taken a huge detour from the real issues. The Court of Appeal found, and the Trustees concur, that some of the claims in the proposed petition would constitute contests under the particular circumstances of this case and the express language in the "No Litigation" Clause and Mary's No Contest Clause. None of the offending claims implicate public policies that disfavor the enforcement of no contest clauses. The Court of Appeal concluded "that as a matter of law. the beneficiaries' challenges to Mary's ability to amend the Trust with the Second Amendment, the Trustees' failure to make distributions, and Mary's failure to create the subtrusts required by the Trust would, if pursued, constitute a contest under the no contest clause because these challenges attack the distributive scheme of the Trust " (Donkin, 204 Cal.App.4th at 639.) As previously stated, the beneficiaries' demand for immediate distribution of the Decedent's Trust B is contrary to the express terms of the Trust. The Court of Appeal further determined that "[t]he beneficiaries' contention that the Second Amendment does not apply to

the Trust because the surviving Settlor (Mary) lacked to [sic] the power to amend the Trust also constitutes a challenge to the distributive scheme of the Settlors." (Id.) The beneficiaries legally challenge and attack the validity of the Second Amendment as it applies to the Decedent's Trust B, contrary to Mary's intention that the Second Amendment apply to all of the Trust Estate. The resolution of this issue turns on Mary's intent in enacting the Second Amendment. The beneficiaries do not allege that Mary violated any public policies by enacting the Second Amendment. Nor do they argue that the Second Amendment contains any terms that are objectionable on public policy grounds. They merely assert that Mary did not have any authority to amend the Decedent's Trusts and, therefore, the Second Amendment is inapplicable to the Decedent's Trusts (i.e., Decedent's Trust B). (AA, at p. 30 n.2.) In addition, the beneficiaries have expressed the position that the Settlors pre-conditions to distribution do not apply, even though these conditions are plainly stated in the Trust and the beneficiaries do not argue that they contain any ambiguities or public policy exceptions. The terms and conditions included in the original trust and then reiterated in both amendments do not require allocation of any share for the primary beneficiaries until after the "above conditions are satisfied" and "the debts and obligations of the Trust Estate have been paid." (AA, at pp. 103, 115, and 118). The beneficiaries simply ignore the Settlors incentive clause, spendthrift

clause, and trustee discretion, but admit that "[t]he provisions of the Trust did condition the right to distribution on various factors, relating to 'extraordinary distributions,' 'handicapped beneficiaries,' etc." (AA, at pp. 101-02.) "None of those conditions apply herein." (Respondents' Brief, at pp. 16-17.) Without any reference to the actual facts and circumstances of this case, or explanation of why the conditions do not apply to them, the beneficiaries gloss over these conditions and demand distribution. (Id.; Petition for Review, at pp. 12-13 ("Respondents submit that at this point, over seven (7) years after the death of the Survivor, it is inconceivable that a diligent and forthright Trustee would not have paid or provided for the debts of the Trust and this Court should consider any attempt to assert that condition as justification for the refusal to distribute . . . to be ineffective, if not mendacious").) The beneficiaries insist that the Trustees treat all of the conditions as ineffective, in violation of the clear terms of the Trust. The Trustees have a fiduciary duty to all of the beneficiaries of the Trust to obey all of the Settlor's conditions, as well as a legal duty to pay the creditors of the Trust. (Cal. Prob. Code §16000 (Deering 2012).) The Trustees would breach fiduciary duties owed to the remainder beneficiaries if they yielded to the beneficiaries' threats and litigation and allowed the beneficiaries to dictate distributions not provided for by the Trust.

The beneficiaries are actually contesting actions and decisions made by the Settlors, not by the Trustees. They are contesting the discretion granted to the Trustees to hold, administer, and distribute the Trust assets in both the original trust and the amendments. They are contesting the Settlors' conditions precedent to allocation and distribution, by disavowing the shifting clause provisions contained under the "Handicapped" section, the Settlor's incentive clause provisions, the Spendthrift clause provision, and the condition that the debts of the Trust Estate must be paid prior to allocation. And they are contesting Mary's act of amending the Trust with the intent of controlling the disposition of the entire Trust Estate. As is sadly true but often not readily apparent in contested probate cases, the beneficiaries' "beef" is with their parents, not their cobeneficiaries or the successor fiduciaries. All of these claims affect the beneficiaries' personal interests, not matters that affect society at large. (Tunstall, 144 Cal.App.4th at 564-65 (the court's power to invalidate private instruments on public policy grounds is easily abused and should be used carefully and sparingly; the policy in question should involve a matter that affects society at large rather than the litigants' personal interests; a testator can distribute his property upon such terms as seem just and proper to him as long as the terms are not prohibited by law or in violation of public policy).) Thus, none of the claims present public policy violations. The beneficiaries do not even suggest that the

Settlors' intentions are unclear with respect to any of these claims. Since these matters are clearly stated in the Trust and none of them violate public policies, it is incumbent upon the Trustees to execute these terms of the Trust.

This Opinion of the Court of Appeal is Not Based on Any Rules of Law that Are in Conflict Among the Courts of Appeal.

The beneficiaries are grasping for straws that are out of their reach. "Although not cited by the Court of Appeal in support of its conclusion that the proposed challenges would violate the no-contest clauses in the Trust, same is based solidly on Ferber." (Opening Brief, at p. 30.) Once again, the beneficiaries are focused on the claims in their proposed petition that are not at issue in this proceeding. In <u>Ferber</u>, a beneficiary under a will brought multiple "safe harbor" petitions to determine whether petitions to remove the executor and object to the executor's accounting would violate the no contest clause in the will. The no contest clause at issue in Ferber provided in part, "If any devisee, legatee or beneficiary under this Will, or any legal heir of mine or person claiming under any of them unsuccessfully requests the removal of any person acting as an executor . . . then in that event I specifically disinherit each such person " (See Estate of Ferber, 66 Cal.App.4th 244, 248-49, 77 Cal.Rptr.2d 774 (1998).) The court struck a balance between the public policies favoring enforcement of no contest clauses (i.e., discouraging litigation and giving effect to the purposes expressed by the testator) and the public policies favoring court supervision of probate matters (e.g., to protect the estate and ensure its

assets are properly protected for the beneficiaries). The court held that no contest clauses could be enforced against beneficiaries who seek to remove fiduciaries or who challenge the actions of fiduciaries only if the challenge is frivolous. (Id. at 253-55.) In the present case, the Court of Appeal concluded, as a matter of law, that "the beneficiaries' challenges to Mary's ability to amend the Trust with the Second Amendment, the Trustees' failure to make distributions, and Mary's failure to create the subtrusts required by the Trust" and "[t]he beneficiaries' contention that the Second Amendment does not apply to the Trust because the surviving Settlor (Mary) lacked the power to amend the Trust" would constitute contests under the no contest clauses. (Donkin, 204 Cal.App.4th at 639.) The underlying reasoning was that the beneficiaries' challenges attacked the distributive scheme established by the Settlors. (Id.; See also Greenelsh, 47 Cal.4th at 605 ("an indirect contest is one that attacks the validity of an instrument by seeking relief inconsistent with its terms").) The no contest violations identified by the Court of Appeal did not have anything to do with the actions of the Trustees, fiduciary abuse, or public policy. Thus, contrary to the beneficiaries' assertion, there was no "Ferber calculus" involved in the Court's decision.

The beneficiaries urge the court to use the present case as a vehicle to resolve what the beneficiaries perceive as a conflict among the circuits. This case clearly does not

belong in the fray. There are no fiduciary abuse issues. The terms of the Trust do not infringe upon any public policies that disfavor enforcement of no contest clauses. The Court of Appeal decision was based on "black letter" no contest law set forth in <u>Burch</u>. (<u>Donkin</u>, 204 Cal.App.4th at 632-34.)

In <u>Estate of Parette</u>, the court was faced with a provision in a testamentary trust subject to the continuing jurisdiction of the probate court that "neither original trustee nor any successor trustee shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the court administering the estate of Paul R. Parette" and a provision in an inter vivos trust that "neither original trustee nor any successor trustee shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the Court administering my estate." (<u>Estate of Parette</u>, 165 Cal.App.3d 157, 159, 159 fn.1, 211 Cal.Rptr. 313 (1985).) The Trustees have never argued that the court lacks jurisdiction over the issues raised in the proposed petition. (Appellants Reply Brief, at 9-10.)

In <u>Fazzi v. Klein</u>, the court faced a dichotomy of issues similar to the present case. (<u>Fazzi v. Klein</u>, 190 Cal.App.4th 1280, ___ Cal.Rptr.3d ___ (2010) (hereafter "<u>Fazzi</u>").) As the Court of Appeal in the present case explained, "the court [in <u>Fazzi</u>] found that a challenge that sought to disqualify a successor trustee that was named in the trust on the basis the trustee was unfit to serve based upon a lack of education would violate the no contest clause because it would violate the settlors' estate plan by disturbing the decedent's choice of fiduciary, while <u>an action to remove a trustee for cause</u>

(malfeasance) would not." (Donkin, 204 Cal.App.4th at 635 (emphasis added).) Likewise, the proposed petition presents challenges that violate the Settlors' estate plan and challenges alleging fiduciary malfeasance. Consistent with Fazzi, the Trustees are seeking application of the no contest clauses only to the challenges that would violate the Settlors' estate plan. (See Fazzi, 190 Cal.App.4th at 1288 ("[t]he proposed petition directly contravenes an express directive in the Trust").)

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